

G OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Edmonds A, Brazier E, Musick BS, Yotebieng M, Humphrey J, Abuogi LL, et al. (2022) Clinical and programmatic outcomes of HIVexposed infants enrolled in care at geographically diverse clinics, 1997–2021: A cohort study. PLoS Med 19(9): e1004089. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pmed.1004089

Academic Editor: Marie-Louise Newell, University of Southampton, UNITED KINGDOM

Received: May 12, 2022

Accepted: August 11, 2022

Published: September 15, 2022

Copyright: © 2022 Edmonds et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: Complete data for this study cannot be posted in a supplemental file or a public repository because of legal and ethical restrictions. The Principles of Collaboration under which the IeDEA multiregional collaboration was founded and the regulatory requirements of the different countries' IRBs require the submission of a project concept proposal and approval by the IeDEA Executive Committee. To request data, please review IeDEA guidance and complete the concept proposal template, available at: https:// RESEARCH ARTICLE

Clinical and programmatic outcomes of HIVexposed infants enrolled in care at geographically diverse clinics, 1997–2021: A cohort study

Andrew Edmonds¹*, Ellen Brazier², Beverly S. Musick³, Marcel Yotebieng⁴, John Humphrey⁵, Lisa L. Abuogi⁶, Adebola Adedimeji⁷, Olivia Keiser⁸, Malango Msukw⁹, James G. Carlucci¹⁰, Marcelle Maia¹¹, Jorge A. Pinto¹¹, Valériane Leroy¹², Mary-Ann Davies¹³, Kara K. Wools-Kaloustian⁵, on behalf of leDEA¹¹

1 Department of Epidemiology, Gillings School of Global Public Health, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, North Carolina, United States of America, 2 Institute for Implementation Science in Population Health, Graduate School of Public Health and Health Policy, City University of New York, New York, New York, United States of America, 3 Department of Biostatistics and Health Data Science, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, Indiana, United States of America, 4 Department of Medicine, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, New York, United States of America, 5 Department of Medicine, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, Indiana, United States of America, 6 Department of Pediatrics, University of Colorado, Denver, Aurora, Colorado, United States of America, 7 Department of Epidemiology & Population Health, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, New York, United States of America, 8 Institute of Global Health, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, 9 Center for International Health, Education, and Biosecurity, University of Maryland, Lilongwe, Malawi, 10 Department of Pediatrics, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, Indiana, United States of America, 11 Federal University of Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, 12 Inserm, Université de Toulouse, CERPOP, Université Paul Sabatier, Toulouse, France, 13 University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa

¶ Membership of IeDEA is provided in the Supporting information file S1 Text. * aedmonds@email.unc.edu

Abstract

Background

Although 1.3 million women with HIV give birth annually, care and outcomes for HIVexposed infants remain incompletely understood. We analyzed programmatic and health indicators in a large, multidecade global dataset of linked mother–infant records from clinics and programs associated with the International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS (IeDEA) consortium.

Methods and findings

HIV-exposed infants were eligible for this retrospective cohort analysis if enrolled at <18 months at 198 clinics in 10 countries across 5 leDEA regions: East Africa (EA), Central Africa (CA), West Africa (WA), Southern Africa (SA), and the Caribbean, Central, and South America network (CCASAnet). We estimated cumulative incidences of DNA PCR testing, loss to follow-up (LTFU), HIV diagnosis, and death through 24 months of age using proportional subdistribution hazard models accounting for competing risks. Competing risks were transfer, care withdrawal, and confirmation of negative HIV status, along with LTFU and

www.iedea.org/resources/multiregional-researchsops-templates/. Signing of a data sharing agreement may also be required. Approval for use of Umoyo+ data can be requested from the Malawi National Health Sciences Research Committee: https://www.nhsrc-mw.com/index.html.

Funding: The International Epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS (IeDEA) is supported by the U.S. National Institutes of Health's National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (https:// www.niaid.nih.gov), the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (https://www.nichd.nih.gov), the National Cancer Institute (https://www.cancer.gov), the National Institute of Mental Health (https:// www.nimh.nih.gov), the National Institute on Drug Abuse (https://nida.nih.gov), the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (https://www.nhlbi.nih. gov), the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (https://www.niaaa.nih.gov), the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (https://www.niddk.nih.gov). the Fogarty International Center (https://www.fic.nih. gov), and the National Library of Medicine (https:// www.nlm.nih.gov): CCASAnet, U01AI069923; Central Africa, U01AI096299 (MY is a PI); East Africa, U01AI069911 (KKW is a PI); Southern Africa, U01AI069924 (MD is a PI): West Africa. U01AI069919. Informatics resources are supported by the Harmonist project, R24Al124872. This work is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of any of the institutions mentioned above. Data collection in the 106 MCH clinics in DRC was supported by a linked grant to IeDEA Central Africa from the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) and the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, 1R01HD087993 (MY). Umoyo+ was supported by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (https://www. gatesfoundation.org), OPP1090200; USAID-NIH initiative Partnerships for Enhanced Engagement in Research (PEER) Health (NIH/PEER) (https://www. usaid.gov/research/peer), AID-OAA-A-11-00012; and a Swiss National Science Foundation (https:// www.snf.ch/en) professorship grant, 163878 (OK). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: I have read the journal's policy and the authors of this manuscript have the following competing interests: VL reports funding from ANRS and WHO paid to her institution. MD reports funding from ViiV Healthcare paid to her institution. KKW reports funding from the Eli Lilly and Company Foundation Inc., and from the Leona

death, when not the outcome of interest. In CA and EA, we quantified associations between maternal/infant characteristics and each outcome. A total of 82.067 infants (47.300 EA. 10,699 CA, 6,503 WA, 15,770 SA, 1,795 CCASAnet) born from 1997 to 2021 were included. Maternal antiretroviral therapy (ART) use during pregnancy ranged from 65.6% (CCASAnet) to 89.5% (EA), with improvements in all regions over time. Twenty-four-month cumulative incidences varied widely across regions, ranging from 12.3% (95% confidence limit [CL], 11.2%, 13.5%) in WA to 94.8% (95% CL, 94.6%, 95.1%) in EA for DNA PCR testing; 56.2% (95% CL, 55.2%, 57.1%) in EA to 98.5% (95% CL, 98.3%, 98.7%) in WA for LTFU; 1.9% (95% CL, 1.6%, 2.3%) in WA to 10.3% (95% CL, 9.7%, 10.9%) in EA for HIV diagnosis; and 0.5% (95% CL, 0.2%, 1.0%) in CCASAnet to 4.7% (95% CL, 4.4%, 5.0%) in EA for death. Although infant retention did not improve, HIV diagnosis and death decreased over time, and in EA, the cumulative incidence of HIV diagnosis decreased substantially, declining to 2.9% (95% CL, 1.5%, 5.4%) in 2020. Maternal ART was associated with decreased infant mortality (subdistribution hazard ratio [sdHR], 0.65; 95% CL, 0.47,0.91 in EA, and sdHR, 0.51; 95% CL, 0.36,0.74 in CA) and HIV diagnosis (sdHR, 0.40; 95% CL, 0.31,0.50 in EA, and sdHR, 0.41; 95% CL, 0.31,0.54 in CA). Study limitations include potential misclassification of outcomes in real-world service delivery data and possible nonrepresentativeness of IeDEA sites and the population of HIV-exposed infants they serve.

Conclusions

While there was marked regional and temporal heterogeneity in clinical and programmatic outcomes, infant LTFU was high across all regions and time periods. Further efforts are needed to keep HIV-exposed infants in care to receive essential services to reduce HIV infection and mortality.

Author summary

Why was this study done?

- Clinical and programmatic outcomes among HIV-exposed infants are poorly documented, with gaps in information on receipt of antiretrovirals by infants and their mothers, early infant diagnosis and definitive diagnostic testing, anthropometric and developmental measures, and susceptibilities to mortality and loss to follow-up (LTFU).
- Previous evidence from both observational studies and clinical trials is largely limited to single-program or single-country reports with small sample sizes, lack of mother-infant linkages, or restricted geographical or temporal breadth.

What did the researchers do and find?

• Pooling data from the International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS consortium (sub-Saharan Africa and Brazil) and the Umoyo+ project (Malawi) to create the largest global dataset of HIV-exposed infants to date, our study features >82,000 HIVexposed infants, with >90% linked to maternal records, born over a 25-year period at M. and Harry B. Helmsley Charitable Trust, paid to her institution. All other authors report no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Abbreviations: AP, Asia-Pacific; ART, antiretroviral therapy; ARV, antiretroviral; CA, Central Africa; CCASAnet, Caribbean, Central, and South America network for HIV epidemiology; DRC, Democratic Republic of Congo; EA, East Africa; EID, early infant diagnosis; leDEA, International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS; IQR, interquartile range; LBW, low birth weight; LTFU, loss to followup; MCH, maternal and child health; NA-ACCORD, North American AIDS Cohort Collaboration on Research and Design; PMTCT, prevention of mother-to-child transmission; PTB, preterm birth; SA, Southern Africa; sdHR, subdistribution hazard ratio; SGA, small for gestational age; WA, West Africa. 198 clinics providing routine HIV services in 10 countries—including 6 UNAIDS high HIV burden focus countries.

- Results from this retrospective cohort analysis provide robust, geographically broad insights on key clinical and programmatic outcomes across 5 regions, including the cumulative incidences of DNA PCR testing, LTFU, HIV diagnosis, and death through 24 months of age, accounting for relevant competing risks, while also utilizing mother-infant linkages to examine associations between these outcomes and maternal and infant characteristics.
- Notably, we found that while mortality and HIV diagnosis decreased over time globally, infant retention at 2 years did not exceed 60% in any period in any region.

What do these findings mean?

- Although real-world service delivery data limitations include potential misclassification
 of outcomes and nonrepresentativeness of contributing sites, this study generated novel
 information on clinical characteristics and programmatic outcomes among HIVexposed infants.
- While elucidating deficiencies in care that must be mitigated to deliver the package of medications and support necessary to assure that all such children remain uninfected, survive, and thrive, our analysis corroborated prior studies in highlighting unacceptably poor retention among those initially engaged in care.
- Our finding of widespread and persistent LTFU across disparate settings should motivate changes in policy and practice to improve patient retention, as maintaining infants in care will facilitate not only HIV testing and prevention, but also the provision of other services (primary care, nutrition, immunizations, etc.) essential for the achievement of long-term health.

Introduction

Improved coverage of prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMTCT) programs, along with the initiation of pregnant and breastfeeding women with HIV on lifelong treatment with antiretroviral therapy (ART) and the scale-up of immediate ART for all people with HIV [1], have contributed to dramatic declines in new pediatric HIV infections, from an estimated 520,000 annually in 2000 [2] to 150,000 in 2020 [3]. Nonetheless, there are an estimated 1·3 million pregnancies among women with HIV each year [2]. Available data indicate that compared to women without HIV, women with HIV are more likely to deliver infants who are preterm [4], are small for gestational age (SGA) [5], and have low birth weight (LBW) [5,6]—factors that are associated with mortality in HIV-exposed uninfected infants [7]. These infants have elevated risks of impaired growth (e.g., underweight) and neurodevelopment [8], lower respiratory tract infections and other comorbidities [9], and mortality [10]. To attain optimal health outcomes among children born to women with HIV and ensure that they remain "alive, HIV free, and thriving [11]," retention in care and access to a range of services are critical [12].

Such services include nutritional support, prophylactic antiretrovirals (ARVs) and cotrimoxazole, and regular HIV testing from early infant diagnosis (EID) through definitive diagnosis at 18 months of age or 3 months after breastfeeding cessation, whichever is later [13].

While there is a growing population of HIV-exposed infants worldwide [2], documentation of their clinical and programmatic outcomes is limited, with much of the extant knowledge based on modeling estimates and smaller to medium studies with restricted geographical or temporal breadth [11,14–16]. In general, linkages between maternal and HIV-exposed infant data are uncommon in clinic settings [12], which limits the ability to systematically examine the impacts of pregnancy and delivery characteristics on subsequent pediatric outcomes. In addition, loss to follow-up (LTFU) of HIV-exposed infants is high, with meta-analyses reporting attrition of 34% [17] at 3 months and 39% [18] at 18 months of age, leading to gaps in DNA PCR testing [3] and low ascertainment of HIV status.

To address knowledge gaps and provide geographical context, we analyzed a unique and sizeable multidecade dataset of linked mother–infant records from multiple regions of the International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS (IeDEA) consortium. Our primary outcomes of interest were the cumulative incidences of DNA PCR testing, LTFU, HIV diagnosis, and death through 24 months of age among HIV-exposed infants, focusing on variations by region and calendar time, as local HIV epidemics, sociocultural contexts, and programmatic environments were heterogenous in the periods and areas represented in this dataset. Along with describing characteristics of HIV-exposed infants and their mothers, we aimed to assess associations of ART during pregnancy, preterm birth (PTB), SGA, LBW, and calendar time with the primary outcomes.

Methods

Study population

Data for this retrospective cohort analysis were drawn from IeDEA, an international research consortium that pools and harmonizes data of patients receiving routine HIV care in 7 regional cohorts (Asia-Pacific [AP], Central Africa [CA], East Africa [EA], Southern Africa [SA], West Africa [WA], the Caribbean, Central and South America network for HIV epide-miology [CCASAnet], and the North American AIDS Cohort Collaboration on Research and Design [NA-ACCORD]) [19], as well as from the Umoyo+ project in Malawi [20]. Infants were eligible if they were documented as having a mother with HIV and if they enrolled in care (i.e., first database entry) at <18 months of age. Infants enrolled in ART cohorts (i.e., sites that provide care only to those with confirmed HIV) were excluded, as were IeDEA cohorts with no eligible infants (AP and NA-ACCORD). Data from the mothers of eligible infants were also included. The concept proposal underlying this analysis is included as Supporting information (S1 Concept Proposal).

Measures

We defined measures as follows. PTB: <37 weeks of gestation. SGA: <10th percentile (sexspecific) for birthweight, as calculated by the Fenton 2013 Preterm Growth Chart [21]. LBW: <2,500 grams. Underweight at 6 weeks: weight-for-age Z-score <-2, as calculated by sex-specific WHO child growth standards [22], using the closest available weight measurement within 14 days to 6 weeks of age. HIV diagnosis: positive DNA PCR or RNA viral load at any age, or positive serology at >18 months of age. Confirmation of negative HIV status: negative DNA PCR, RNA viral load, or serology at >18 months of age, in the absence of prior HIV diagnosis. LTFU: final attended clinic visit >6 months prior to program-specific database closure date and no documentation of death, transfer, or care withdrawal, with censoring on the final visit date [23]. Calendar time (year of infant birth): pre-2010 (i.e., years prior to the Option A and Option B approaches for PMTCT), 2010 to 2013 (Options A and B), 2014 to 2015 (Option B+), and post-2015 ("Treat All"), categorized to correspond approximately with 4 WHO HIV prevention and treatment guideline periods [1,13].

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics, including proportions, medians, and interquartile ranges (IQRs), were used to characterize HIV-exposed infants, their mothers, and outcomes of interest for each region. Given the heterogeneity of source data, certain variables (e.g., gestational age at birth, DNA PCR testing) were unavailable in selected regions, often because the data are not recorded during patient care, and in WA, infants generally could not be linked to mothers. Accordingly, records missing data were excluded when calculating percentages.

Cumulative incidence functions through 24 months of age, accounting for competing risks, were estimated for the 4 primary outcomes (DNA PCR testing, LTFU, HIV diagnosis, and death) via proportional subdistribution hazard models [24], stratified by region and by calendar time within each region. Competing risks were transfer, care withdrawal, and confirmation of negative HIV status, along with LTFU and death, when not the outcome of interest. In sensitivity analyses aimed at approximating estimates among HIV-exposed uninfected infants rather than all HIV-exposed infants, we included HIV diagnosis as an additional competing risk (for outcomes besides HIV diagnosis). All cumulative incidence estimates accounted for left truncation (i.e., infants were considered at risk for outcomes beginning on the date of program enrollment rather than beginning on the date of birth). To provide insight on early testing, we also reported the cumulative incidences of DNA PCR testing by 2 months of age.

In EA and CA, where data were sufficiently complete and sample size was large enough, multivariable proportional subdistribution hazards models were used to quantify associations of ART during pregnancy, PTB, SGA, LBW, and calendar time with the primary outcomes. Complete case analysis was used because multiple imputation may lead to bias when data are missing not at random [25] and because our dataset had a limited number of variables for prediction. We assumed data were missing not at random, as they were extracted from heterogenous medical records and databases across diverse settings, where missing values may reflect differences in health information management systems and patient medical charts, as well as differences in delivery of pregnancy and postnatal care, rather than patient characteristics. Associations between missingness of variables, and trends in data missingness over time, are detailed in the Supporting information (S1 Missingness). The missingness analysis was performed in response to peer review comments.

Methods for mother–infant linkages varied by region. Except in SA, individuals had unique identifiers, with pre- and postnatal data generally contained in the same database (whether from an HIV care and treatment center, or from a pregnancy register at a maternal and child health [MCH] clinic). In SA, probabilistic record linkage methods, relying on demographic characteristics such as date of birth, sex, location, and names, were used. Data abstracted from patient medical records or extracted from electronic medical records were deidentified and cleaned by local and regional data managers prior to transfer for use in analyses. Approvals for data collection and contribution to IeDEA were obtained by participating regions from relevant institutional review boards and ethics committees, with informed consent sought where required by national ethics committees. The analysis was approved by the institutional review board at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (18–3313) and by IeDEA's Executive Committee. Sharing of Umoyo+ data for this analysis was approved by the Malawi National Health Sciences Research Committee (MED/4/36c). All analyses were completed in SAS

version 9·4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). This study is reported as per the REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routinely-collected Data (RECORD) guideline (<u>S1</u> <u>STROBE Checklist</u>).

Results

In total, 82,067 HIV-exposed infants born from 1997 to 2021 were eligible and included, with 92.4% linked to maternal data (i.e., at least 1 maternal variable available). The numbers and types of study sites (i.e., HIV care and treatment center, or MCH clinic), along with numbers and birth year ranges of infants, are detailed by region and country in Table 1. Infants received care at 198 sites across 10 countries in 5 IeDEA regions: Kenya in EA (n = 55); Republic of Congo, Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), and Burundi in CA (n = 113); Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Togo, and Benin in WA (n = 8); Malawi in SA (n = 21); and Brazil in CCASAnet (n = 1). The largest numbers of infants were from the EA (n = 47,300) and SA (n = 15,770) regions of IeDEA. Data from most countries included infants born throughout the full study period, with some exceptions (e.g., Umoyo+ in Malawi contributed data from infants born between 2010 and 2015 only). MCH clinics in the sample were in EA (n = 16) and CA (n = 106).

Characteristics of mothers and infants, along with outcomes at delivery and over the subsequent 24-month period, are detailed in <u>Table 2</u>. Median maternal age at delivery was approximately 30 years in each region with available data. Between 80·1% (CCASAnet) and 97·9% (WA) of mothers received any ARVs during pregnancy, with 65·6% (CCASAnet) to 89·5% (EA) on ART prior to delivery; maternal ARV/ART uptake improved over time across regions. Just over half of infants were female (50·9%), ranging from 47·8% in CCASAnet to 58·6% in

Region	Country	Number	Linked to Mother*	Sites	Program or Site	Birth Years	
East Africa	Kenya	47,300	100%	55	AMPATH, FACES	2001-2021	
Central	DRC	2,570	100%	2	Kalembe Lembe, Bomoi	2003-2018	
Africa	DRC	3,780	100%	106	Various MCH clinics	2014-2019	
	Burundi	1,922	100%	3	Association Nationale de Soutien aux Séropositifs et Malade du Sida, Centre Hospitalo- Universitaire de Kamenge, l'Hôpital Prince Régent Charles	2005-2020	
	Republic of Congo	2,427	100%	2	Brazzaville, Pointe-Noire	2001-2019	
West Africa	Côte d'Ivoire	2,676	8.9%	5	Centre de Prise en Charge de Recherche et de Formation, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Cocody, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Yopougon, Centre Intégré de Recherche Bioclinique d'Abidjan, MTCT-Plus	2004–2018	
	Benin	1,355	0%	1	Centre National Hospitalier Universitaire, Cotonou	2002-2017	
	Ghana	1,237	0%	1	Korle-Bu Teaching Hospital	2004-2018	
	Togo	1,235	0%	1	Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Tokoin	2011-2017	
Southern Africa	Malawi	15,770	100%	21	Umoyo+	2010-2015	
CCASAnet	Brazil	1,795	100%	1	Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais	1997-2017	
Total		82,067	92 ·4%	198		1997-2021	

AMPATH, Academic Model Providing Access to Healthcare; CCASAnet, Central and South America network for HIV epidemiology; DRC, Democratic Republic of Congo; FACES, Family AIDS Care and Education Services; IeDEA, International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS; MCH, maternal and child health. *At least 1 maternal variable available.

All sites were HIV care and treatment centers except for those noted as MCH clinics. Of the 55 HIV care and treatment centers in East Africa, 16 had an affiliated MCH clinic.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1004089.t001

	East Africa (<i>n</i> = 47,300)	Central Africa (<i>n</i> = 10,699)	West Africa (<i>n</i> = 6,503)	Southern Africa (<i>n</i> = 15,770)	CCASAnet (<i>n</i> = 1,795)	
Maternal age (years) at delivery, median (IQR)	29.1 (24.9-33.6) [n = 35,439]	31.5 (27.0-35.7) [n = 10,274]			$ \begin{array}{c} 28.9 (24.6 - 33.9) \\ [n = 1,137] \end{array} $	
ARVs during pregnancy	25,822 (91·7) [<i>n</i> = 28,147]	7,843 (84·9) [<i>n</i> = 9,243]	234 (97.9) [n = 239]	12,644 (80.2) [$n = 15,770$]	1,438 (80 \cdot 1) [$n = 1,795$]	
pre-2010	6,455 (85.8)	742 (60.0)			1,002 (74.5)	
2010-2013	9,624 (90.8)	1,442 (76.0)	87 (96.7)	10,981 (78.9)	222 (95.7)	
2014–2015	4,634 (95.8)	1,551 (91.1)	84 (97.7)	1,663 (90.0)	100 (98.0)	
post-2015	5,109 (98.5)	4,108 (93.2)	63 (100.0)		114 (98.3)	
≥3 ARVs during pregnancy	25,195 (89·5) [<i>n</i> = 28,147]	7,627 (82·5) [<i>n</i> = 9,243]	207 (86·6) [<i>n</i> = 239]	11,337 (71·9) [<i>n</i> = 15,770]	1,178 (65·6) [<i>n</i> = 1,795]	
pre-2010	6,403 (85.1)	577 (46.7)			748 (55.6)	
2010-2013	9,199 (95.6)	1,432 (75.4)	78 (86.7)	9,767 (70.2)	218 (94.0)	
2014-2015	4,484 (92.7)	1,537 (90.3)	74 (86.0)	1,570 (85.0)	99 (97.1)	
post-2015	5,109 (98.5)	4,081 (92.6)	55 (87.3)		113 (97.4)	
Infant year of birth	[n = 47,300]	[<i>n</i> = 10,699]	[<i>n</i> = 6,503]	[<i>n</i> = 15,770]	[<i>n</i> = 1,795]	
pre-2010	15,273 (32.3)	1,755 (16·4)	1,481 (22.8)	0 (0.0)	1,345 (74.9)	
2010-2013	17,197 (36-4)	2,415 (22.6)	2,576 (39.6)	13,923 (88.3)	232 (12.9)	
2014-2015	7,299 (15.4)	1,846 (17.3)	1,357 (20.9)	1,847 (11.7)	102 (5.7)	
post-2015	7,531 (15.9)	4,683 (43.8)	1,089 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	116 (6.5)	
Female sex	24,358 (51·5) [<i>n</i> = 47,300]	5,792 (58·6) [<i>n</i> = 9,891]	3,167 (48·7) [<i>n</i> = 6,503]	7,586 (50·9) [<i>n</i> = 14,901]	858 (47·9) [<i>n</i> = 1,790]	
Infant age (months) at care enrollment, median (IQR)	$1 \cdot 4 (0 \cdot 6 - 2 \cdot 6)$ [<i>n</i> = 47,300]	0.0 (0.0-0.3) [<i>n</i> = 10,699]	0.9 (0.1-2.0) [n = 6,503]	1.8 (1.5-4.5) [$n = 15,770$]	0.0 (0.0-0.0) [<i>n</i> = 1,795]	
pre-2010	1.6 (0.7-5.3)	0.5 (0.0-1.5)	1.5 (0.5–3.2)		0.0 (0.0-0.0)	
2010-2013	1.0(0.4-2.4)	0.5 (0.0-0.8)	0.8 (0.0-2.0)	2.0 (1.5-5.2)	0.0 (0.0-0.0)	
2014-2015	1.3 (0.6–1.6)	0.0 (0.0-0.0)	0.3 (0.0-1.6)	1.6 (1.4–1.9)	0.0 (0.0-0.0)	
post-2015	1.4 (1.3–1.6)	0.0 (0.0-0.0)	0.5 (0.0-1.7)		0.0 (0.0-0.0)	
PTB (<37 weeks)	1,422 (5·5) [<i>n</i> = 25,840]	1,815 (19·2) [<i>n</i> = 9,435]			147 (17·9) [<i>n</i> = 823]	
pre-2010	315 (4.6)	195 (13-2)			75 (19·2)	
2010-2013	527 (5.4)	185 (8.7)			37 (16.4)	
2014-2015	319 (7.4)	344 (20.6)			21 (22.1)	
post-2015	261 (5.4)	1,091 (26·2)			14 (12.4)	
LBW (<2,500 grams)	2,871 (9·7) [<i>n</i> = 29,620]	$ \begin{array}{c} 1,314\ (13.5)\\[n=9,703]\end{array} $	710 (20·6) [<i>n</i> = 3,441]	$ \begin{array}{c} 1,354 (12.2) \\ [n = 11,066] \end{array} $	380 (21·4) [<i>n</i> = 1,776]	
pre-2010	1,000 (12.5)	231 (15.5)	70 (23.5)		281 (21.1)	
2010-2013	1,054 (9.5)	278 (12.5)	282 (19.6)	1,205 (12.4)	43 (18.7)	
2014-2015	430 (7.9)	248 (14.6)	210 (21.9)	139 (11-1)	31 (30.4)	
post-2015	387 (7.7)	557 (13.0)	148 (19.9)		25 (21.9)	
SGA	3,457 (18·9) [<i>n</i> = 18,251]	2,631 (32·1) [<i>n</i> = 8,195]			193 (25·1) [<i>n</i> = 770]	
pre-2010	950 (21.6)	478 (36-2)			91 (25.0)	
2010-2013	1,442 (20·3)	699 (36-3)			52 (24.4)	
2014-2015	565 (16.7)	490 (33.3)			26 (29.9)	
post-2015	500 (14.9)	964 (27.7)			24 (22.6)	

Table 2. Clinical and programmatic outcomes of HIV-exposed infants and their mothers in the IeDEA consortium and Umoyo+, by region, 1997-2021.

(Continued)

Table 2. (Continued)

	East Africa (<i>n</i> = 47,300)	Central Africa (<i>n</i> = 10,699)	West Africa (<i>n</i> = 6,503)	Southern Africa (<i>n</i> = 15,770)	CCASAnet (<i>n</i> = 1,795)
Underweight at 6 weeks*	3,346 (12·2) [<i>n</i> = 27,438]	689 (19·7) [<i>n</i> = 3,493]	281 (21.7) [n = 1,295]	109 (2.2) [$n = 5,042$]	$ \begin{array}{r} 198 (19.1) \\ [n = 1,039] \end{array} $
pre-2010	1,256 (17.5)	89 (17.8)	53 (19·2)		159 (19.8)
2010-2013	1,148 (11.2)	140 (15.2)	103 (23.5)	93 (2.2)	20 (14.7)
2014-2015	449 (9.2)	113 (26-2)	66 (20.9)	16 (1.9)	11 (17·2)
post-2015	493 (9.5)	347 (21.1)	59 (22.3)		8 (22.2)
Infant cotrimoxazole at <24 months	44,836 (94.8) [$n = 47,300$]	6,005 (56.1) [$n = 10,699$]	2,138 (32.9) [n = 6,503]	13,675 (86·7) [<i>n</i> = 15,770]	
pre-2010	14,204 (93.0)	956 (54.5)	507 (34.2)		
2010-2013	16,259 (94.5)	1,267 (52.5)	803 (31.2)	12,059 (86.6)	
2014-2015	6,941 (95.1)	817 (44-3)	425 (31.3)	1,616 (87.5)	
post-2015	7,432 (98.7)	2,965 (63.3)	403 (37.0)		
Infant ARV prophylaxis at <24 months	27,716 (58·6) [<i>n</i> = 47,300]	5,441 (50.9) [$n = 10,699$]	$ \begin{array}{c} 1,113 (17 \cdot 1) \\ [n = 6,503] \end{array} $	$10,287 (65 \cdot 2)$ [n = 15,770]	$ \begin{array}{c} 1,652 (92.0) \\ [n = 1,795] \end{array} $
pre-2010	3,276 (21.4)	818 (46.6)	259 (17.5)		1,234 (91.7)
2010-2013	12,530 (72.9)	1,082 (44.8)	379 (14.7)	9,012 (64.7)	221 (95.3)
2014-2015	6,308 (86-4)	824 (44.6)	243 (17.9)	1,275 (69.0)	87 (85.3)
post-2015	5,602 (74.4)	2,717 (58.0)	232 (21.3)		110 (94.8)
Duration of follow-up (months), median (IQR) ^{\$}	15.7 (6.7-19.2) [$n = 47,300$]	$6 \cdot 8 (1 \cdot 3 - 15 \cdot 8)$ [$n = 10,699$]	0.5 (0.0-7.5) [<i>n</i> = 6,503]	$8 \cdot 3 (1 \cdot 4 - 15 \cdot 4)$ [$n = 15,770$]	$ \begin{array}{c} 15.1 (9.2-19.9) \\ [n = 1,795] \end{array} $
pre-2010	15.9 (6.7–19.3)	5.0 (1.0-11.7)	2.1 (0.0–12.4)		15.2 (9.7-20.3)
2010-2013	17.1 (8.3–20.3)	10.8 (1.9–17.6)	0.0 (0.0-5.8)	9.4 (1.8–16.3)	17.4 (13.7–22.1)
2014–2015	13.8 (5.5–17.6)	6.9 (0.2–18.0)	0.0 (0.0-5.7)	3.1 (1.0-7.9)	15.9 (12.6–19.0)
post-2015	12.2 (5.7–17.1)	5.7 (1.1–13.1)	0.9 (0.0-5.9)		5.5 (4.2-10.1)
Alive, in care, and HIV-free at 18 months [#]	14,912 (34·4) [<i>n</i> = 43,369]	1,017 (11∙0) [<i>n</i> = 9,276]	$ \begin{array}{r} 162 (2.7) \\ [n = 5,907] \end{array} $	2,274 (17.4) [n = 13,056]	347 (19·3) [<i>n</i> = 1,795]
pre-2010	6,502 (42.8)	136 (7.7)	38 (2.6)		288 (21.4)
2010-2013	6,088 (36.5)	259 (11.5)	73 (2.8)	2,274 (18.4)	48 (20.7)
2014-2015	847 (12.4)	183 (9.9)	43 (3.2)	0 (0.0)	9 (8.8)
post-2015	1,475 (31.8)	439 (12.8)	8 (1.6)		2 (1.7)

*Weight-for-age Z-score <-2, as calculated by sex-specific WHO child growth standards.

^{\$}Through 24 months of age.

[#]Among infants 18 months of age as of database closure date.

ARV, antiretroviral; CCASAnet, Central and South America network for HIV epidemiology; IeDEA, International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS; IQR, interquartile range; LBW, low birth weight; PTB, preterm birth; SGA, small for gestational age.

All results are n (%) unless otherwise noted. Percentages and medians calculated using denominators of individuals with nonmissing data (e.g., gestational age at birth was not available for some infants, and ARV receipt during pregnancy was not available for some mothers). If data for a specific variable were not available in a region, this is denoted by ".." in the table.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1004089.t002

CA. Infants entered HIV care early, with the highest median age at care enrollment in SA (1.8 months; IQR, 1.5 to 4.5). PTB was more common in CCASAnet and CA at 17.9% and 19.2%, respectively, than in EA (5.5%). CA had the highest percentage of SGA infants at 32.1%, versus 25.1% in CCASAnet and 18.9% in EA. LBW ranged from 9.7% in EA to 21.4% in CCASAnet, with underweight at 6 weeks ranging from 2.2% in SA to 21.7% in WA. Receipt of ARV and cotrimoxazole prophylaxis by infants varied substantially by region. The highest proportion of infants receiving ARVs (e.g., extended nevirapine) was 92.0% in CCASAnet, followed by SA

(65·2%), EA (58·6%), CA (50·9%), and WA (17·1%). Higher percentages of infants received cotrimoxazole in EA (94·8%) and SA (86·7%) than in CA (56·1%) and WA (32·9%). While there were small increases in receipt of ARVs and cotrimoxazole by infants in each region, there were no consistent temporal trends over time in these programmatic measures or in infant anthropometric and developmental measures (PTB, LBW, and SGA). The proportion of infants documented as alive, in care, and HIV-free at 18 months ranged from $34\cdot4\%$ in EA to $2\cdot5\%$ in WA and did not improve over time.

Cumulative incidences of each primary outcome through 24 months of age across all time periods are plotted in Fig 1, by region. The cumulative incidence of DNA PCR testing at 2 months was 80.7% (95% confidence limit [CL], 79.5%,82.0%) in SA, 78.0% (95% CL, 77·2%,78·8%) in EA, 41·9% (95% CL, 40·9%,42·8%) in CA, and 8·5% (95% CL, 7·6%,9·5%) in WA. The pattern was similar at 24 months, with DNA PCR testing above 90% in EA (94.8%; 95% CL, 94·6%, 95·1%) and SA (90·2%; 95% CL, 89·4%, 91·0%), 60·1% (95% CL, 59·1%, 61·1%) in CA, and 12.3% (95% CL, 11.2%, 13.5%) in WA. Despite variability in DNA PCR testing, the median age at first test was <2 months in all regions. LTFU was universally high, ranging from 56.2% (95% CL, 55.2%,57.1%) in EA to 93.6% in SA (95% CL, 92.9%,94.2%) and 98.5% in WA (95% CL, 98.3%, 98.7%). The 24-month cumulative incidence of HIV diagnosis ranged from 1.9% (95% CL, 1.6%, 2.3%) in WA to 10.3% (95% CL, 9.7%, 10.9%) in EA, with the median age at diagnosis highest in EA (8.4 months; IQR, 3.2 to 14.1) and lowest in CCASAnet (2.7 months; IQR, 1.4 to 4.6). Cumulative incidence functions revealed that HIV diagnoses occurred throughout follow-up, suggesting missed opportunities for diagnosis among infants not retained in care beyond the EID period. The 24-month cumulative incidence of death ranged from 4.7% (95% CL, 4.4%,5.0%) in EA to 0.5% (95% CL, 0.2%,1.0%) in CCASAnet. Estimates from sensitivity analyses with HIV diagnosis as an additional competing risk returned similar, slightly lower estimates of cumulative incidence (S1 Table).

Fig 2 depicts the cumulative incidences of our primary outcomes of interest by region and time period, with cumulative incidences of each outcome shown by birth year for EA only in S1 Fig. DNA PCR testing was low in WA across all time periods but improved post-2010; levels were consistently moderate in CA, with lower DNA PCR testing in more recent time periods. In EA and SA, DNA PCR testing was consistently high (>80%) across time periods. In CCA-SAnet and CA, LTFU was lower in more recent time periods than pre-2010, but incremental improvements were not evident. In EA, WA, and SA, LTFU did not lessen over time. In EA, CA, and SA, HIV diagnosis and death were lower in more recent time periods than in earlier time periods; in WA, these estimates were lower post-2010. In EA, where 84·1% of infants in our sample were born before 2016, HIV diagnosis decreased substantially over time, declining to 2·9% (95% CL, 1·5%,5·4%) in 2020 (also shown in S1 Fig).

Associations of ART during pregnancy, PTB, SGA, LBW, and calendar time with the primary outcomes are detailed in Table 3 for EA and CA. In EA, ART during pregnancy was associated with increased DNA PCR testing (subdistribution hazard ratio [sdHR], 1·37; 95% CL, 1·26,1·49) and with decreased LTFU (sdHR, 0·57; 95% CL, 0·53,0·63), HIV diagnosis (sdHR, 0·40; 95% CL, 0·31,0·50), and infant death (sdHR, 0·65; 95% CL, 0·47,0·91). Additionally, LBW was associated with decreased DNA PCR testing (sdHR, 0·91; 95% CL, 0·84,0·99) and increased death (sdHR, 2·04; 95% CL, 1·42,2·94). In CA, ART during pregnancy was also associated with decreased HIV diagnosis (sdHR, 0·41; 95% CL, 0·31,0·54) and infant death (sdHR, 0·51; 95% CL, 0·36,0·74) but was associated with decreased DNA PCR testing (sdHR, 0·91; 95% CL, 0·84,0·99). Like in EA, LBW was associated with increased death (sdHR, 3·15; 95% CL, 1·96,5·09) and decreased DNA PCR testing (sdHR, 0·86; 95% CL, 0·77,0·96).

In EA, compared with pre-2010, more recent time periods were associated with decreased DNA PCR testing, HIV diagnosis, and death, along with increased LTFU (e.g., post-2015



Fig 1. Cumulative incidences of DNA PCR testing, LTFU, HIV diagnosis, and death through 24 months of age among HIV-exposed infants in the IeDEA consortium and Umoyo+, by region, 1997–2020. CCASAnet, Caribbean, Central, and South America network for HIV epidemiology; IeDEA, International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS; LTFU, loss to follow-up.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1004089.g001



Fig 2. Cumulative incidences of DNA PCR testing, LTFU, HIV diagnosis, and death through 24 months of age among HIV-exposed infants in the IeDEA consortium and Umoyo+, by region and time period, 1997–2020. CCASAnet, Caribbean, Central, and South America network for HIV epidemiology; IeDEA, International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS; LTFU, loss to follow-up.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1004089.g002

sdHR, 1·40; 95% CL, 1·27,1·53). Similarly in CA, later time periods were associated with decreased HIV diagnosis and death, along with decreased LTFU; however, these decreases were not monotonic.

Discussion

Findings from this analysis of a multidecade global dataset of linked mother–infant records, including data from 6 of the 21 UNAIDS Start Free, Stay Free, AIDS Free focus countries in sub-Saharan Africa [3], demonstrate important regional and temporal heterogeneity in outcomes among HIV-exposed infants. Consistent with global data on the scale-up of ARVs for vertical HIV prevention, particularly since 2010 [26], we found that uptake of maternal ARVs, including combination therapy regimens, was high in EA, CA, and SA, and has improved over time (trends were similar in other regions, though populations were smaller). Although infant receipt of ARV prophylaxis was suboptimal, there have been modest improvements over time. Also encouraging are our findings that 24-month cumulative incidences of HIV diagnosis and death among HIV-exposed infants were lower in more recent years, compared with the pre-2010 period.

		Outcome	EA		CA	
Maternal or infant characteristic	sdHR		95% CL	sdHR	95% CL	
ART during pregnancy		DNA PCR testing	1.37	1.26,1.49	0.91	0.84,0.99
		LTFU	0.57	0.53,0.63	1.00	0.92,1.08
	HIV diagnosis	0.40	0.31,0.50	0.41	0.31,0.54	
	Death	0.65	0.47,0.91	0.51	0.36,0.74	
.BW		DNA PCR testing	0.91	0.84,0.99	0.86	0.77,0.96
		LTFU	1.09	0.98,1.22	1.07	0.97,1.18
		HIV diagnosis	1.25	0.88,1.76	1.23	0.81,1.87
	Death	2.04	1.42,2.94	3.15	1.96,5.09	
РТВ		DNA PCR testing	0.85	0.79,0.92	1.04	0.95,1.14
		LTFU	0.91	0.82,1.00	1.08	1.00,1.17
	HIV diagnosis	1.02	0.71,1.49	1.43	0.97,2.09	
	Death	1.16	0.75,1.78	1.03	0.63,1.66	
6GA		DNA PCR testing	1.12	1.06,1.18	1.03	0.96,1.11
		LTFU	0.92	0.85,1.00	1.01	0.94,1.07
		HIV diagnosis	0.96	0.74,1.27	1.22	0.89,1.67
		Death	1.10	0.81,1.52	0.78	0.49,1.23
Calendar time (infant year of birth)	pre-2010	DNA PCR testing	ref.		ref.	
	2010-2013		1.09	1.04,1.13	1.03	0.93,1.14
	2014-2015		0.57	0.53,0.60	0.59	0.53,0.66
	post-2015		0.82	0.77,0.88	0.94	0.85,1.04
	pre-2010	LTFU	ref.		ref.	
	2010-2013		1.26	1.18,1.36	0.51	0.47,0.56
	2014-2015		3.19	2.96,3.44	0.59	0.54,0.65
	post-2015		1.40	1.27,1.53	0.65	0.60,0.71
	pre-2010	HIV diagnosis	ref.		ref.	
	2010-2013		0.55	0.46,0.67	0.49	0.33,0.73
	2014-2015		0.33	0.25,0.45	0.26	0.15,0.44
	post-2015		0.31	0.22,0.44	0.56	0.40,0.77
	pre-2010	Death	ref.		ref.	
	2010-2013		0.63	0.51,0.79	0.64	0.41,1.00
	2014-2015		0.29	0.20,0.42	0.20	0.10,0.38
	post-2015		0.22	0.14,0.36	0.32	0.20,0.50

Table 3. Associations of maternal and infant characteristics with DNA PCR testing, LTFU, HIV diagnosis, and death among HIV-exposed infants in the EA and CA regions of the IeDEA consortium, 2001–2021.

ART, antiretroviral therapy; CA, Central Africa; CL, confidence limit; EA, East Africa; IeDEA, International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS; LBW, low birth weight; LTFU, loss to follow-up; PTB, preterm birth; sdHR, subdistribution hazard ratio; SGA, small for gestational age.

Estimates are based on infants who had data for all 5 characteristics (n = 18,251 in EA and n = 7,373 in CA), with the sdHR for a given characteristic estimated using a multivariable model including the other 4 characteristics in the table.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1004089.t003

While high maternal use of ARVs and ART during pregnancy and decreases in HIV diagnosis and death among HIV-exposed infants are reassuring, our findings raise concerns about other essential elements of PMTCT programs, particularly in CA and WA, where progress in preventing new HIV infections has lagged [27]. In contrast to EA and SA, where coverage of DNA PCR testing at 2 and 24 months of age was high and has remained high over time, early testing was suboptimal in both CA and WA, with little improvement in CA in recent years. While it is possible that more recent guidelines recommending rapid testing at older ages resulted in fewer DNA PCR tests in later infancy during recent periods, this may not be apparent in our population because most initial DNA PCR testing occurred before 18 months. In addition, the 24-month cumulative incidence of LTFU was high across all regions, and importantly, LTFU occurred early (<6 months of age) in most regions, contributing to gaps in infant prophylaxis and diagnostic testing. While our findings are consistent with prior literature [11,16–18], it is noteworthy that LTFU has not decreased in recent years in EA, WA, and SA, particularly as high LTFU contributes to the low percentages of infants documented as alive, in care, and HIV-free at 18 months noted across all regions and time periods.

Our findings should be viewed in the context of other data for the countries and regions included in this analysis. For example, while the regional heterogeneity in early HIV testing that we observed is consistent with regional differences reported elsewhere, our data show slightly higher uptake of DNA PCR testing compared with other regional estimates [3] potentially reflecting better access to HIV care and laboratory monitoring for our study population than the broader population of HIV-exposed infants in these settings. Similarly, better access to ART and more effective treatment and prophylaxis regimens for our study population may have resulted in an observed 24-month cumulative incidence of HIV diagnosis in the most recent time period for EA (7.0%) that was slightly lower than 2015 and 2020 UNAIDSmodeled vertical transmission rates for Kenya, as well as an SA estimate (1.6%) substantially lower than modeled rates for Malawi and a CA estimate (2.9%) substantially lower than modeled rates for Burundi and DRC [3]. These differences, along with the lower transmission we noted in Malawi compared with concurrent studies from other SA settings [11,16], may also reflect resource disparities between clinical sites and variation in local epidemics. While observed mortality among our sample of HIV-exposed infants predictably exceeded rates documented among HIV-unexposed children [28], our survival estimates were similar to those from a pooled global analysis [14] and single-site studies [11,16], and our findings that mortality among HIV-exposed infants has decreased over time are novel.

For CA and EA, our multivariable analyses consistently supported the biologically expected associations between ART during pregnancy and decreased mortality and HIV transmission, as well as between LBW and death. Associations between later calendar time and decreased DNA PCR testing, HIV diagnosis, and death could reflect the increasing role of MCH clinics in the care of these infants in recent years; these peripheral sites may lag behind dedicated HIV care and treatment centers in their capacity for EID and subsequent DNA PCR testing [29], potentially leading to fewer HIV diagnoses. Such sites may also have less capacity for death ascertainment. Decreases in HIV diagnoses and deaths in recent years may reflect positive programmatic impacts of progressive expansions in treatment eligibility for women with HIV and their infants. In EA, observed associations of ART during pregnancy with increased DNA PCR testing and decreased LTFU are promising. However, alongside decreased DNA PCR testing and increased LTFU during later time periods in EA, these findings also suggest that infants of mothers not on ART may be at particular risk of care disengagement. LTFU in EA may be exacerbated by silent transfers [30] coincident with increasing decentralization of HIV care in the region over time.

To our knowledge, this is the largest analysis of HIV-exposed infants to date. Other notable study strengths include its geographical breadth, providing some of the most representative global information to date given that the dataset featured 4 African regions where the majority of women with HIV and their infants reside, and the inclusion of births occurring over a 25-year period. Although the long duration can complicate interpretation of results, including calendar time in multivariable models underscored some important trends in outcomes of interest, including reduced mortality and HIV diagnosis in later time periods, which may reflect advances in care for HIV-exposed infants (including the integration of HIV care into

primary care), as well as secular trends in prevalence [2]. Another strength was our linkage between maternal and infant records, which allowed for the examination of associations between prenatal ART and infant mortality. It is worth noting that while ARVs were not universally available pre-2010, estimates were minimally impacted by the inclusion of data from years where there was little access to ARVs because our data had few infants born early in the study period (Table 1). For example, in the largest regional cohort (EA), 285/47,300 infants were born pre-2004, while in another large regional cohort (CA), 179/10,699 infants were born pre-2004.

Although our study included HIV-exposed infants from multiple geographical regions, constraints of the observational design and data preclude causal attribution of outcomes, and interpretation and comparisons should consider the precision of estimates. In addition, there are limitations to the generalization of our results to the global population of HIV-exposed infants, which is orders of magnitude larger and more widely distributed. Moreover, sites participating in IeDEA may not be broadly representative of program-specific strengths and deficiencies in some countries and regions. These limitations underscore the need to establish additional cohorts for the long-term follow-up of women with HIV and their children, built upon linked and standardized data collection, especially in understudied areas where progress in meeting global targets for prevention and treatment has stalled.

As data were collected in routine care settings, specific protocols for HIV testing, mortality ascertainment, visit frequency, and other processes likely varied by country, program, and calendar time, and there may be important differences between countries and programs that influenced our estimates. For example, if protocols for death ascertainment were less sophisticated in programs outside of EA, mortality estimates could be biased downwards relative to EA, with cumulative incidences of other outcomes biased upwards because death was a universal competing risk. Differences in data quality or consistency of collection could also bias results. Because laboratory testing is constrained by locally available resources, we defined HIV diagnosis based on a single positive result (i.e., not requiring substantiation by confirmatory testing). This may have resulted in some misclassification of this outcome, because a small proportion of positives (per a single test) are truly false positives that could have been identified as such by subsequent confirmatory testing. Similarly, misclassification of negative HIV status after 18 months was possible given that substantial numbers of infants are breastfed at 2 years of age [31]. This misclassification of HIV status (i.e., assigning an infant as negative when subsequent seroconversion was possible) could have biased our HIV diagnosis estimates downwards. Additionally, HIV diagnosis estimates may be impacted by the degree of HIV testing in a region, with increased diagnosis in EA where testing was near universal.

The exclusion of infants enrolled in sites that only provide care for those with confirmed HIV infection may have resulted in cumulative incidence underestimation in the case of HIV diagnosis and DNA PCR testing, or overestimation in the case of LTFU. Additionally, our decision to stratify results by categorical time periods defined by WHO eras of HIV treatment guidelines may have obscured some variation within time periods, and timely adoption of WHO recommendations may have differed across contributing programs, meaning that category boundaries may not have precisely reflected changes in practice. However, resultant impacts on estimates were likely mitigated by the multiyear duration of each period. Last, our dataset lacked the variables necessary to account for the influences of external factors such as forced migration, election violence, nursing strikes, and stock-outs of ARVs, cotrimoxazole, and laboratory test reagents that may disrupt care in resource-constrained areas.

These limitations notwithstanding, our findings reflect progress in the global scale-up of ARVs and ART for vertical HIV prevention since the early 2000s, while also providing insights

about other key clinical and programmatic outcomes. They also elucidate ongoing vulnerabilities for HIV-exposed infants, particularly in CA and WA where progress has lagged, and for LBW infants who appear at markedly increased risk of death. Encouragingly, these vulnerabilities can be mitigated to varying degrees by addressing one consistent shortfall across regions: high LTFU, because better retention is logically tied to associated improvements in other identified areas of concern. Specifically, engagement in care facilitates the delivery of ARVs for HIV prevention, cotrimoxazole prophylaxis, breastfeeding and other nutritional support, and developmental interventions, all of which are reasonably expected to have downstream impacts on infectious comorbidity and mortality reduction. Even if shortfalls in testing access are identified and removed, only with improvements in consistent access to and uptake of quality and comprehensive care will we meet the goal of all exposed infants surviving and thriving [11], verified as free of HIV, throughout their childhoods and beyond.

Supporting information

S1 Fig. Cumulative incidences of DNA PCR testing, LTFU, HIV diagnosis, and death through 24 months of age among HIV-exposed infants in the EA region of the IeDEA consortium, by birth year, 2002–2020. While it would have been possible to include regions other than EA in S1 Fig, we opted not to because of sparser data and the potential to overinterpret year-specific results based on small numbers (for example, in CCASAnet, there were 1,795 infants in total across the time period), meaning that estimates for each year would have been derived from relatively few observations. In EA, higher LTFU in the early 2010s was potentially because PMTCT programs were being integrated into MCH clinics during this period, which may have resulted in some data capture issues. Higher deaths in the mid-2000s may be due to the introduction of formula feeding during this period, which may have increased deaths, as well as a larger proportion of infants who did not receive PMTCT services and entered care at older ages. As this was prior to the era of universal treatment, i.e., when ARV treatment initiation was based on immunologic criteria, more deaths may have occurred. Furthermore, in this period, pregnant women were not eligible for ARVs until 28 weeks of gestation, ARVs were typically discontinued within the first 2 months following delivery, and cotrimoxazole was not yet universally dispensed. ARV, antiretroviral; CCASAnet, Caribbean, Central, and South America network for HIV epidemiology; EA, East Africa; IeDEA, International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS; LTFU, loss to follow-up; MCH, maternal and child health; PMTCT, prevention of mother-to-child transmission. (PDF)

S1 Table. Cumulative incidences of DNA PCR testing, LTFU, HIV diagnosis, and death through 24 months of age (with and without HIV diagnosis as a competing risk) among HIV-exposed infants in the IeDEA consortium, by region, 1997–2020. Top estimates (before "/") do not include HIV diagnosis as a competing risk; bottom estimates (after "/") include this competing risk. HIV diagnosis cannot be a competing risk when it is the outcome. CL, confidence limit; IeDEA, International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS; LTFU, loss to follow-up.

(PDF)

S1 Concept Proposal. Global analysis of key programmatic and clinical outcomes of HIVexposed infants in the International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS consortium.

(PDF)

S1 STROBE Checklist. The RECORD statement—Checklist of items, extended from the STROBE statement, that should be reported in observational studies using routinely collected health data.

(PDF)

S1 Text. Acknowledgments. (PDF)

S1 Missingness. Associations between variable missingness (risk ratios and 95% confidence intervals), and percentages of missing data by infant year of birth, in the EA and CA regions of the IeDEA consortium, 2001–2021. Reference category is other variable = nonmissing. *Example interpretation: Missingness of data on ART during pregnancy is associated with increased missingness of LBW data (risk ratio, 1.64; 95% confidence interval, 1.60–1.67). Note: Where blank, risk ratios were not calculable due to cells with zero counts (e.g., there were no records where LBW was missing but SGA was not missing). ART, antiretroviral therapy; CA, Central Africa; EA, East Africa; IeDEA, International epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS; LBW, low birth weight; SGA, small for gestational age. (PDF)

Acknowledgments

We sincerely thank the patients and staff at contributing sites, as well as the IeDEA Pediatric and Mother and Infant Working Groups and regional data managers. The full list of Acknowl-edgments can be found in the Supporting information (S1 Text).

Author Contributions

- **Conceptualization:** Andrew Edmonds, Beverly S. Musick, John Humphrey, Adebola Adedimeji, Olivia Keiser, Malango Msukwa, James G. Carlucci, Marcelle Maia, Jorge A. Pinto, Valériane Leroy, Mary-Ann Davies, Kara K. Wools-Kaloustian.
- **Data curation:** Andrew Edmonds, Ellen Brazier, Beverly S. Musick, Marcel Yotebieng, Malango Msukwa, Marcelle Maia.
- Formal analysis: Andrew Edmonds.
- **Funding acquisition:** Marcel Yotebieng, Olivia Keiser, Mary-Ann Davies, Kara K. Wools-Kaloustian.
- **Investigation:** Andrew Edmonds, Ellen Brazier, Beverly S. Musick, Marcel Yotebieng, John Humphrey, Lisa L. Abuogi, Adebola Adedimeji, Olivia Keiser, Malango Msukwa, James G. Carlucci, Marcelle Maia, Jorge A. Pinto, Valériane Leroy, Mary-Ann Davies, Kara K. Wools-Kaloustian.
- Methodology: Andrew Edmonds, Beverly S. Musick, John Humphrey, Adebola Adedimeji, Olivia Keiser, Malango Msukwa, James G. Carlucci, Marcelle Maia, Jorge A. Pinto, Valériane Leroy, Mary-Ann Davies, Kara K. Wools-Kaloustian.

Project administration: Andrew Edmonds.

Resources: Andrew Edmonds.

Software: Andrew Edmonds.

Supervision: Andrew Edmonds.

Validation: Andrew Edmonds.

Visualization: Andrew Edmonds, Beverly S. Musick.

Writing - original draft: Andrew Edmonds, Ellen Brazier.

Writing – review & editing: Andrew Edmonds, Ellen Brazier, Beverly S. Musick, Marcel Yotebieng, John Humphrey, Lisa L. Abuogi, Adebola Adedimeji, Olivia Keiser, Malango Msukwa, James G. Carlucci, Marcelle Maia, Jorge A. Pinto, Valériane Leroy, Mary-Ann Davies, Kara K. Wools-Kaloustian.

References

- World Health Organization. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: recommendations for a public health approach
 – 2nd ed. 2016. [cited 2021 Aug 20]. Geneva: World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241549684.
- Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. AIDSinfo. Global data on HIV epidemiology and response. 2021. [cited 2021 Aug 20]. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. <u>https://aidsinfo.unaids.org</u>.
- Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. Start Free, Stay Free, AIDS Free. Final report on 2020 targets. 2021. [cited 2021 Aug 20]. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. https:// www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/2021_start-free-stay-free-aids-free-final-report-on-2020-targets_en.pdf.
- Gudza-Mugabe M, Havyarimana E, Jaumdally S, Garson KL, Lennard K, Tarupiwa A, et al. Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection Is Associated With Preterm Delivery Independent of Vaginal Microbiota in Pregnant African Women. J Infect Dis. 2020; 221 (7):1194–1203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/</u> jiz584 PMID: 31722395
- Orbaek M, Thorsteinsson K, Moseholm Larsen E, Katzenstein TL, Storgaard M, Johansen IS, et al. Risk factors during pregnancy and birth-related complications in HIV-positive versus HIV-negative women in Denmark, 2002–2014. HIV Med. 2020; 21(2):84–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hiv.12798</u> PMID: 31603598
- Evans C, Jones CE, Prendergast AJ. HIV-exposed, uninfected infants: new global challenges in the era of paediatric HIV elimination. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016; 16(6):e92–e107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(16)00055-4 PMID: 27049574</u>
- Slyker JA, Patterson J, Ambler G, Richardson BA, Maleche-Obimbo E, Bosire R, et al. Correlates and outcomes of preterm birth, low birth weight, and small for gestational age in HIV-exposed uninfected infants. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2014; 14:7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-14-7</u> PMID: 24397463
- Wedderburn CJ, Evans C, Yeung S, Gibb DM, Donald KA, Prendergast AJ. Growth and Neurodevelopment of HIV-Exposed Uninfected Children: a Conceptual Framework. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2019; 16 (6):501–513. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11904-019-00459-0 PMID: 31732866
- le Roux DM, Nicol MP, Myer L, Vanker A, Stadler JAM, von Delft E, et al. Lower Respiratory Tract Infections in Children in a Well-vaccinated South African Birth Cohort: Spectrum of Disease and Risk Factors. Clin Infect Dis. 2019; 69 (9):1588–1596. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz017 PMID: 30925191
- Brennan AT, Bonawitz R, Gill CJ, Thea DM, Kleinman M, Useem J, et al. A meta-analysis assessing allcause mortality in HIV-exposed uninfected compared with HIV-unexposed uninfected infants and children. AIDS. 2016; 30 (15):2351–2360. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.00000000001211 PMID: 27456985
- Evans C, Chasekwa B, Ntozini R, Majo FD, Mutasa K, Tavengwa N, et al. Mortality, Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Transmission, and Growth in Children Exposed to HIV in Rural Zimbabwe. Clin Infect Dis. 2021; 72 (4):586–594. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa076 PMID: 31974572
- Modi S, Broyles LN, Montandon M, Itoh M, Ochanda B, Langat A, et al. Beyond Early Infant Diagnosis: Changing the Approach to HIV-Exposed Infants. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2018; 78 Suppl 2(Suppl 2):S107–S14. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.000000000001736 PMID: 29994832
- 13. World Health Organization. Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, testing, treatment, service delivery and monitoring: recommendations for a public health approach. 2021. [cited 2021 Aug 20]. Geneva: World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240031593.
- Arikawa S, Rollins N, Jourdain G, Humphrey J, Kourtis AP, Hoffman I, et al. Contribution of Maternal Antiretroviral Therapy and Breastfeeding to 24-Month Survival in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Exposed Uninfected Children: An Individual Pooled Analysis of African and Asian Studies. Clin Infect Dis. 2018; 66(11):1668–1677. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix1102 PMID: 29272387

- Chetty T, Thorne C, Coutsoudis A. Preterm delivery and small-for-gestation outcomes in HIV-infected pregnant women on antiretroviral therapy in rural South Africa: Results from a cohort study, 2010–2015. PLoS ONE. 2018; 13(2):e0192805. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192805 PMID: 29470508
- Patel MR, Mushavi A, Balachandra S, Shambira G, Nyakura J, Mugurungi O, et al. HIV-exposed uninfected infant morbidity and mortality within a nationally representative prospective cohort of motherinfant pairs in Zimbabwe. AIDS. 2020; 34(9):1339–1346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.</u> 00000000002567 PMID: 32590432
- Sibanda EL, Weller IV, Hakim JG, Cowan FM. The magnitude of loss to follow-up of HIV-exposed infants along the prevention of mother-to-child HIV transmission continuum of care: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS. 2013; 27(17):2787–2797. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.00000000000027 PMID: 24056068
- Carlucci JG, Liu Y, Friedman H, Pelayo BE, Robelin K, Sheldon EK, et al. Attrition of HIV-exposed infants from early infant diagnosis services in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2018; 21(11):e25209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jia2.25209</u> PMID: 30649834
- Chammartin F, Dao Ostinelli CH, Anastos K, Jaquet A, Brazier E, Brown S, et al. International epidemiology databases to evaluate AIDS (IeDEA) in sub-Saharan Africa, 2012–2019. BMJ Open. 2020; 10(5): e035246. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-035246 PMID: 32414825
- Msukwa MT, Estill J, Haas AD, van Oosterhout JJ, Tenthani L, Davies MA, et al. Weight gain of HIVexposed, uninfected children born before and after introduction of the 'Option B+' programme in Malawi. AIDS. 2018; 32(15):2201–2208. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.00000000001942 PMID: 30005013
- Fenton TR, Kim JH. A systematic review and meta-analysis to revise the Fenton growth chart for preterm infants. BMC Pediatr. 2013; 13:59. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2431-13-59 PMID: 23601190
- WHO Multicentre Growth Reference Study Group. WHO Child Growth Standards: Length/height-forage, weight-for-age, weight-for-length, weight-for-height and body mass index-for-age: Methods and development. 2006. [cited 2021 Aug 20]. Geneva: World Health Organization. <u>https://www.who.int/</u> publications/i/item/924154693X.
- Lesko CR, Edwards JK, Cole SR, Moore RD, Lau B. When to Censor? Am J Epidemiol. 2018; 187 (3):623–632. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx281 PMID: 29020256
- 24. Fine JP, Gray RJ. A Proportional Hazards Model for the Subdistribution of a Competing Risk. J Am Stat Assoc. 1999; 94(446):496–509.
- Hughes RA, Heron J, Sterne JAC, Tilling K. Accounting for missing data in statistical analyses: multiple imputation is not always the answer. Int J Epidemiol. 2019; 48(4):1294–1304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ ije/dyz032 PMID: 30879056</u>
- Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. Global AIDS update 2019—Communities at the centre. 2019. [cited 2021 Aug 20]. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. <u>https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/2019-global-AIDS-update_en.pdf</u>.
- United Nations Children's Fund. Children, HIV and AIDS: The world in 2030. 2018. [cited 2021 Aug 20]. New York: United Nations Children's Fund. https://data.unicef.org/resources/children-hiv-and-aids-2030/.
- United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation (UN IGME). Levels & Trends in Child Mortality: Report 2020, Estimates developed by the United Nations Inter-agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation. 2020. [cited 2021 Aug 20]. New York: United Nations Children's Fund. https://www. unicef.org/media/79371/file/UN-IGME-child-mortality-report-2020.pdf.
- Edmonds A, Feinstein L, Okitolonda V, Thompson D, Kawende B, Behets F. Implementation and Operational Research: Decentralization Does Not Assure Optimal Delivery of PMTCT and HIV-Exposed Infant Services in a Low Prevalence Setting. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015; 70(4):e130–e139. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.00000000000781 PMID: 26262776
- 30. Geng EH, Odeny TA, Lyamuya R, Nakiwogga-Muwanga A, Diero L, Bwana M, et al. Retention in Care and Patient-Reported Reasons for Undocumented Transfer or Stopping Care Among HIV-Infected Patients on Antiretroviral Therapy in Eastern Africa: Application of a Sampling-Based Approach. Clin Infect Dis. 2016; 62(7):935–944. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/civ1004 PMID: 26679625
- United Nations Children's Fund. Breastfeeding: A Mother's Gift, for Every Child. 2018. [cited 2021 Aug 20]. New York: United Nations Children's Fund. https://data.unicef.org/resources/breastfeeding-amothers-gift-for-every-child.